Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Applied Animal Behaviour Science



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/applanim

Attention, noise, and implications for wildlife conservation and management

Alvin Aaden Yim-Hol Chan, Daniel T. Blumstein*

Department of Ecology and Evolutionary Biology, University of California, 621 Young Drive South, Los Angeles, CA 90095-1606, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Accepted 17 January 2011 Available online 16 February 2011

Keywords: Anthropogenic noise Attention Distraction Conservation Management

Review

ABSTRACT

Anthropogenic stimuli are often viewed as disturbances that directly interfere with signal processing or communication, or directly harm animals. However, such sounds may also distract individuals and thus potentially interfere with their ability to make biologically important decisions about food selection, mate selection, and predator detection. This is because all of these decisions require animals to focus their attention on these tasks and the attention allocated to perceived stimuli is limited. We review the ways that attention is studied, the diversity of taxa in which this cognitive process has been studied, and how stimuli from one modality may interfere with attentional processes in another modality. Such distraction may increase the vulnerability of prey to predators and thus influence predation rates and, ultimately, both the population size, and the effective population size (through differential mortality). Recognizing that distraction is likely to be widespread is the first step towards managing it for wildlife conservation and the management of problem animals.

© 2011 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	How attention is studied	2
3.	Taxa in which attentional processes have been described	3
	3.1. Primates	3
	3.2. Rodents	3
	3.3. Mammals (excluding primates and rodents)	3
	3.4. Birds	3
	3.5. Amphibians and reptiles	3
	3.6. Invertebrates	4
4.	The conservation and management relevance of attentional processes	4
5.	Conclusions	5
	Acknowledgements	5
	References	5

E-mail address: marmots@ucla.edu (D.T. Blumstein).

^{*} Corresponding author at: Department of Ecology & Evolutionary Biology, University of California, 621 Young Drive South, Los Angeles, CA 90095-1606, USA. Tel.: +1 310 267 4746; fax: +1 310 206 3987.

^{0168-1591/\$ -} see front matter © 2011 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.applanim.2011.01.007

1. Introduction

Anthropogenic noise is present throughout the ocean (Hatch and Wright, 2007) and on land (Jabben et al., 2001). This creates a problem for animals that use sounds to conduct a variety of biologically important tasks (Lein, 1981; Gerhardt et al., 2002; Brumm and Slabbekoorn, 2005; Surlykke and Kalko, 2008). And, although they may adapt to living with certain urban characteristics (Luniak, 2004; Hunter, 2007), studies have shown that prominent ambient noise can mask acoustic signals (e.g., Slabbekoorn and Peet, 2003; Warren et al., 2006; Woods and Yezerinac, 2006), change population distributions (e.g., Reijen et al., 1998; Bejder et al., 2006; Bayne et al., 2008), increase vigilance (e.g., Delaney et al., 1999; Karp and Root, 2009), and create physiological stress (e.g., Campo et al., 2005). Indeed, anthropogenic sounds have been shown to even affect avian community structure and the nature of interspecific interactions (Francis et al., 2009). Despite rare adaptations to extraneous noise, such as modifying call structure to avoid acoustic masking (Foote et al., 2004), anthropogenic noise generally causes deleterious consequences. For example, beaked whale strandings (e.g., Frantzis, 1998) may be a direct result of extremely loud anthropogenic sounds (Cox et al., 2006). A deeper knowledge of the ways animals respond to anthropogenic sounds may help us understand, and hence manage, our impacts, or, if desired, use anthropogenic sounds to interfere with "problem" animals.

One little-examined impact of anthropogenic noise is that it may draw attention and thus distract animals. While animals can perceive stimuli in many modalities, they generally respond to a very narrow range of stimuli because attention filters out irrelevant information (Shettleworth, 2010). Attention is finite and limits the total amount of information that can be processed (Dukas, 2004). Thus animals become distracted when attention is reallocated to peripheral and irrelevant perceived stimuli, leaving them less able to attend to a stimulus important for survival or reproductive success. Anthropogenic sounds can be peripheral stimuli. Importantly, as long as stimuli can be perceived (even those from another modality), attention may be compromised.

An example of the consequences of compromised attention is seen in a study demonstrating that loud boat motor sound reduced a hermit crab's (Coenobita clypeatus) ability to properly assess a simulated predation risk (Chan et al., 2010). We proposed "the distracted prey hypothesis", which asserts that extraneous and relatively continuous stimuli (of any modality that is perceived) are capable of reallocating attention and distracting animals from performing biologically important task (e.g., predator detection, foraging, sleeping). What was surprising about this study was that an invertebrate-a hermit crab-not only possessed attention, but also was capable of being distracted. Most (but not all) previous studies have studied attentional processes in vertebrates (see below), and those that have studied attentional processes in invertebrates have not focused on how sounds may distract them.

Attentional processes occur after stimulus perception and stimulus filtering (Blumstein and Bouskila, 1996),

and attention is a cognitive process. Importantly, attentional processes can be influenced by stimuli from multiple modalities (Driver and Spence, 1998). Distraction by a stimulus of one modality can affect performance in a task of another. For example, the presence of a continuous white noise impaired the ability of Norway rats (Rattus norvegicus) to perform a visual discrimination task (Maes and de Groot, 2003), showing that while they had focused their attention upon stimuli in their visual field, an irrelevant stimulus from another modality was capable of drawing attention away from the visual discrimination task. This finding, along with those of Chan et al. (2010), has important consequences for wildlife conservation because it implies that anthropogenic stimuli may broadly influence an animal's performance visual tasks, even if the stimuli are not visual.

2. How attention is studied

Animals must divide their attention between various activities (e.g., playing, foraging, grooming) while simultaneously assessing predation risk (Blumstein, 1998). The study of attention can involve allocation of attention under certain conditions. For example, it has been shown that elk (Cervus elaphus) spend less time on vigilance and focus more attention on feeding when predation risk is low (Wolff and Van Horn, 2003). The allocation of attention may also be dependent on foraging behaviour. Bernays and Funk (1999) speculated that animal specialists that focus attention on a specific food source likely have higher foraging efficiency, which may give them an advantage over generalists because they spend less time on foraging and more attention can be allocated to assessing predation risk. It is possible that too many stimuli can be overwhelming; certain predators may become confused by swarming prey because they are unable to focus their attention on a specific individual (Jeschke and Tollrian, 2007). This confusion could be a direct result of divided attention (Shettleworth, 2010).

Attentional capabilities can also be studied in a more direct manner. One way is to investigate performance in visual discrimination tasks (e.g., Sagi and Julesz, 1986; Corbetta et al., 1991). The goal of such studies is to see how visual distractors influence the ability to identify a target from the background. Studies capitalize on the need to forage for cryptic prey or detect predators from a complex background. Treisman and Gelade (1980) suggested that attention is focused serially towards different features of the target and then integrated into a unified percept (i.e., feature integration theory). Such serial examination is required in visual searching (VanRullen et al., 2004), whereby the desired target is selected from the surrounding distractors (Wolfe, 2010). A study on visual searching tests attention by distracting the animal from identifying the target quickly and accurately (Shettleworth, 2010). In addition, possessing a 'search image' (i.e., focusing attention on specific visual features-Tinbergen, 1960; Langley, 1996) and employing 'area restricted searches' (i.e., restricting attention to a small and specific area-Curio, 1976; Kareiva and Odell, 1987; Fauchald and Tveraa, 2003) can further help identify a desired target. Many taxa have been subjected to visual discrimination tasks that test their attentional abilities.

3. Taxa in which attentional processes have been described

Here we review (the mostly) experimental studies demonstrating the variety of taxa that possess attentional abilities. Each study is intended to show the prevalence of attentional processes, regardless of the precise experimental procedures or findings. The diversity of species demonstrates that attention is a widespread, perhaps universal, cognitive ability that allows animals to cope with exposure to irrelevant stimuli. Compromised attention thus could have potentially important implications for conservation and management.

3.1. Primates

Studying attentional abilities in primates is an area of much interest. Chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes) (Tomonaga, 2001), baboons (Papio papio) (Deruelle and Fagot, 1998: Fagot et al., 1998), capuchin monkeys (Cebus apella) (Spinozzi et al., 2003), and macaques (Macaca mulatta) (Bichot et al., 1996; Bichot and Schall, 1999) are capable of focusing their attention to identify a target among a variety of distractors. In addition to visual discrimination tasks, joint attention (i.e., the ability to focus attention where another is looking via nonverbal communication) is an example of how attention is utilized and has been studied in a number of primates (e.g., chimpanzees-Povinelli and Eddy, 1996; macaques-Tomasello et al., 1998; olive baboons (Papio anubis)-Vick and Anderson, 2003; pileated gibbons (Hylobates pileatus)–Horton and Caldwell, 2006; orangutans (Pongo pygmaeus)-Itakura and Tanaka, 1998; lemurs (Eulemur fulvus and Eulemur macaco)-Ruiz et al., 2009). While these studies are experimental and direct evaluations of attentional processes, there is evidence from observational studies suggesting other primates are capable of attentional processes as well. For example, female mountain gorillas (Gorilla gorilla beringei) often shift their attention away from foraging to approaching adult males more often than when there are approaching females (Watts, 1998). In this case, it is logical to assume that adult males distract foraging females (implying the existence of attentional processes).

3.2. Rodents

There are many studies of attentional processes in rodents, mostly in rats and mice. For example, it has been shown that Norway rats possess the ability for sustained attention (i.e., vigilance) (e.g., Granon, 1998; Mirza and Stolerman, 1998), divided attention (i.e., being able to divide attention between different stimuli)(e.g., McGaughy et al., 1994; Jentsch and Taylor, 2003), and selective attention (i.e., focusing attention at a specific target) (e.g., Piser and Fibiger, 1983). These three terms are examples of how attention is described in practice. Mice (*Mus musculus domesticus* and *Mus musculus musculus*) have also been used as a model species in a variety of attention studies

(e.g., Gaalen et al., 2003; Young et al., 2004; Greco and Carli, 2006). The study of attention is not limited to rats and mice though; Mongolian gerbils (*Meriones unguiculatus*) focus attention on novel stimuli presented in their visual field (Cheal, 1980). Also, California ground squirrels (*Spermophilus beecheyi*) have been shown to shift their attention to fast moving stimuli in a study conducted on their directional selectivity (Paolini and Sereno, 1998). And, Blumstein (1998) studied golden marmots (*Marmota caudata aurea*) and suggested that limited attention enhanced predation risk for individuals distracted by being engaged in social behaviours such as play and aggression.

3.3. Mammals (excluding primates and rodents)

Attentional processes have been studied in other mammals—mostly through visual discrimination tests (e.g., sea lions (*Zalophus californianus*)—Schusterman, 1966; Schusterman, 1967; elephants (*Loxodonta africana*)—Savage et al., 1994; red deer (*C. elaphus*)—Reby et al., 2008). Although attention has been studied in dolphins (e.g., Pack and Herman, 2004, 2006), the attentional processes of other cetaceans have not been as well investigated, most likely because of the logistical constraints in working with them.

3.4. Birds

Birds have also been the focus of many visual discrimination studies. For example, extensive work has been done on pigeons (family Columbidae) involving visual searches for cryptic food or specific patterns on complex, distracting backgrounds (Bond, 1983; Plaisted and Mackintosh, 1995; Langley et al., 1996). The ability to selectively focus attention to discover cryptic targets has also been shown in fowl (Gallus gallus domesticus) (Dawkins, 1971). Pigeons have been used to study the 'attention threshold hypothesis', which argues that the latency to discover a desired target within a backdrop of distractors is minimized by shifting between selectively focusing attention upon one stimulus type at a time and performing a slower search by becoming receptive to a full spectrum of stimuli (Bond, 1983). Blue jays (Cyanocitta cristata) and other species that have to find food against complex visual backgrounds may be more vulnerable to predation when searching for cryptic prey due to a compromised ability to detect predatory stimuli (Dukas and Kamil, 2000; Dukas, 2002).

3.5. Amphibians and reptiles

Studies involving attentional processes have been conducted on a variety of amphibians and reptiles, such as frogs (e.g., Ingle, 1975; Greenfield and Rand, 2001) and lizards (Fleishman, 1986). An example is an anole (*Anolis auratus*), which has a visual reflex that is drawn by moving and relevant objects. Fleishman (1992) speculated that there must be an attentional process that prevents distraction from ambient environmental motions (e.g., vegetation movement due to wind) that allows the lizards to discriminate relevant from irrelevant motions (i.e., visual search capabilities). In addition, Prechtl (1994) observed cortical oscillations that are linked to attentional processes in a species of pond turtles (*Pseudmys scripta*). The oscillations were also observed in response to salient (i.e., attention capturing) stimuli, such as sudden movements made by the experimenter.

3.6. Invertebrates

Attentional processes have been studied in honeybees (Apis mellifica), which have been shown to pay attention to a particular space occupied by different landmarks indicating the position of a sugar source (Anderson, 1977). This use of attention allows them to optimize their foraging patterns. The attention has also been suggested in spiders (e.g., Hebets, 2004; Nakata, 2010), hermit crabs (e.g., Jackson and Elwood, 1990; Chan et al., 2010), and nematodes (e.g., Hills et al., 2004). For instance, it has been shown that hermit crabs (Pagarus bernhardus) can be distracted during investigation of potential shells (Jackson and Elwood, 1990). Distraction in hermit crabs has been suggested in a variety of other studies (e.g., Elwood, 1995; Elwood et al., 1998; Neil and Elwood, 1986). We expect that given the diversity of invertebrate taxa in which attention has been studied. that most/all species have limited attentional abilities.

4. The conservation and management relevance of attentional processes

We have shown that attentional processes are widespread among animals. It is possible that distraction by anthropogenic noise might affect the population dynamics of many species through its impacts on survival and the later responses of adaptive behaviour. Many populations of amphibians (Collins and Storfer, 2003), reptiles (Gibbons et al., 2000), marine mammals (e.g., Turvey et al., 2007; Estes et al., 2009), birds (see Pimm et al., 2010) and most primates (see Mittermeier et al., 2009) are either declining, threatened, or endangered in at least some of their range. Despite dominating the planet's biodiversity, invertebrates have rarely been the focus of conservation (Dingle et al., 1997), even though they play a crucial role in a variety of different ecosystems (e.g., Lavelle et al., 2006; Mysterud et al., 2010; Riipinen et al., 2010). All of these taxa rely on attention to select which stimuli are most relevant to their survival and reproduction (Shettleworth, 2010). This realization, combined with the observation that humans produce anthropogenic sounds (and other stimuli) throughout the world, suggests that conservation biologists and wildlife managers should understand how attention can be manipulated for management, and understood for conservation.

Studying attentional deficits would be useful in situations where anthropogenic disturbances have negatively affected target species populations. For example, California ground squirrels have been shown to change their behaviour by increasing their vigilance in the presence of electricity generating wind turbines (Rabin et al., 2006). Because we know these populations are already affected by anthropogenic noise, it would be useful to investigate whether distraction plays a role as well. Compressor stations that assist in maintaining flow through gas pipelines in the boreal forest create a constant noise year round that can be heard within a 1 km radius. The effect of this noise has been studied in birds (Bayne et al., 2008), but there has not been as much work done investigating the effect on the mammals that live there (e.g., hares, ungulates, bears). They too may be distracted by the noise, which could affect population sizes of target species. In addition, a large portion of the literature on anthropogenic noise investigates its effect on avian populations (see Slabbekoorn and Ripmeester, 2008; Warren et al., 2006) and we speculate that distraction could be a prominent mechanism for increased predation risk, which may reduce population size.

Determining whether anthropogenic noise is distracting is particularly important for those populations where evidence suggests that there may not be energetic costs to living with noise or other potential distractors. For instance, Bisson et al. (2009) found that white-eyed vireos (Vireo griseus) suffered no significant energy cost resulting from the presence of anthropogenic disturbance (including noise) and, that activities such as parental care continued uninterrupted. However, it is conceivable that while the birds continued to perform these tasks, their proficiency decreased due to distraction and thus they suffered a fitness cost. For instance, distraction does not eliminate, but rather reduces blue jays '(C. cristata) ability to detect predators in their periphery (Dukas and Kamil, 2000). Thus, lack of evidence of energetic costs does not necessarily mean that there are no fitness costs to potentially distracting stimuli.

To properly conserve biodiversity and to manage wildlife populations, we should consider anthropogenic noise as not only a mechanism for masking communication, but also one that may distract animals. We have shown that such attentional capabilities are taxonomically widespread and, importantly, that the distraction can come from stimuli in any modality (e.g., auditory-Berti and Schroger, 2003; visual-Visser et al., 2004; olfactory-Bunsey and Strupp, 1995). The majority of the examples we have outlined examine mostly the visual attentional capacity of these taxa, but with respect to risk assessment, predator detection likely involves more than visual cues. Chemosensory cues are also used in risk assessment by certain prey to avoid predation (Kats and Dill, 1998). For example, certain species of skinks (Carlia rostralis and C. storri) use odors to detect predators and assess the level of risk depending on the predator species (Lloyd et al., 2009). Therefore, anthropogenic noises may also distract animals from detecting predator sensory cues as well. The opposite theoretically works as well; anthropogenic stimuli of other modalities could distract animals from auditory cues necessary for biologically important tasks.

We speculate that noise could be strategically used to distract, and thus disrupt 'overabundant' animals. If, by doing so, we are able to reduce their reproductive success or survival, we have a potentially effective management tool. Noise has already been shown to deter some problem species away from a particular space. For example, ongoing research conducted by Dr. Richard Holstetter shows that altering the noise made by bark pine beetles (*Dendroctonus ponderosae*) and playing it back to them can effectively disrupt their mating and tunneling behaviour (Anon., 2010). Additionally, ultrasonic noise has been found as a deterrent for certain nuisance animals (e.g., Nelson et al., 2005). Animals may, however, habituate to such chronic sound exposure (Bomford and O'Brien, 1990). If, despite habituation, the noise still distracts animals, the intended effect may persist. More research into how animals habituate to such sounds is needed.

5. Conclusions

We need studies that aim to better understand the population consequences of distraction on wildlife populations. In some cases, we may wish to reduce the effect of distraction while in other cases we may wish to increase it (i.e., to repel problem animals or invasive species). One key future question will be to understand how animals habituate to distracting stimuli over time. While Chan et al. (2010) speculated that continuous stimuli could result in habituation, more empirical evidence is necessary to test this hypothesis. In humans, continuous noises of even low intensity can impair cognitive performance (Beaman, 2005). It is possible that although animals may habituate to the stimuli, it may not always result in recovered risk assessment.

Acknowledgements

During manuscript preparation, Chan was partially supported by a Whitcome Summer Research Fellowship, and Blumstein was partially supported by NSF 0754247. We are grateful to two anonymous reviewers whose thoughtful comments helped us improve our presentation.

References

- Anderson, A.M., 1977. A model for landmark learning in the honey-bee. J. Comp. Physiol. A 114, 335–355.
- Anon., 2010. Beat the Beetles: NAU Researchers Crank up the Volume to Fight Tree-killing Pests, Inside NAU. Retrieved July 26, 2010, from http://www4.nau.edu/insidenau/bumps/2010/2_3_10/beetle.htm.
- Bayne, E.M., Habib, L., Boutin, S., 2008. Impacts of chronic anthropogenic noise from energy-sector activity on abundance of songbirds in the Boreal forest. Conserv. Biol. 22, 1186–1193.
- Beaman, C.P., 2005. Auditory distraction from low-intensity noise: a review of consequence for learning and workplace environments. Appl. Cogn. Psychol. 19, 1041–1064.
- Bejder, L., Samuels, A., Whitehead, H., Gales, N., Mann, J., Connor, R., Heithaus, M., Watson-Capps, J., Flaherty, C., Krutzen, M., 2006. Decline in relative abundance of bottlenosed dolphins exposed to long-term disturbance. Conserv. Biol. 20, 1791–1798.
- Bernays, E.A., Funk, D.J., 1999. Specialists make faster decisions than generalists: experiments with aphids. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B 266, 151–156.
- Berti, S., Schroger, E., 2003. Working memory controls involuntary attention switching: evidence from an auditory distraction paradigm. Eur. J. Neurosci. 17, 1119–1122.
- Bichot, N.P., Schall, J.D., Thompson, K.G., 1996. Visual feature selectivity in frontal eye fields induced by experience in mature macaques. Nature 381, 697–699.
- Bichot, N.P., Schall, J.D., 1999. Saccade target selection in macaque during feature and conjunction visual search. Vis. Neurosci. 16, 81–89.
- Bisson, I.-A., Butler, L.K., Hayden, T.J., Romero, L.M., Wikelski, M.C., 2009. No energetic cost of anthropogenic disturbance in a songbird. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B 276, 961–969.
- Blumstein, D.T., 1998. Quantifying predation risk for refuging animals: a case study with golden marmots. Ethology 104, 501–516.
- Blumstein, D.T., Bouskila, A., 1996. Assessment and decision making in animals: a mechanistic model underlying behavioral flexibility can prevent ambiguity. Oikos 77, 569–576.

- Bomford, M., O'Brien, P.H., 1990. Sonic deterrents in animal damage control: a review of device tests and effectiveness. Wildl. Soc. Bull. 18 (4), 411–422.
- Bond, A.B., 1983. Visual search and selection of natural stimuli in the pigeon: the attention threshold hypothesis. J. Exp. Psychol. Anim. B 9, 292–306.
- Brumm, H., Slabbekoorn, H., 2005. Acoustic communication in noise. Adv. Stud. Behav. 35, 151–209.
- Bunsey, M.D., Strupp, B.J., 1995. Specific effects of idazoxan in a distraction task: evidence that endogenous norepinephrine plays a role in selective attention in rats. Behav. Neurosci. 109, 903–911.
- Campo, J.L., Gil, M.G., Davila, S.G., 2005. Effects of specific noise and music stimuli on stress and fear levels of laying hens of several breeds. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 91, 75–84.
- Chan, A.A.Y.-H., Giraldo-Perez, P., Smith, S., Blumstein, D.T., 2010. Anthropogenic noise affects risk assessment and attention: the distracted prey hypothesis. Biol. Lett. 6, 458–461.
- Cheal, M., 1980. Disruption of selective attention by apomorphine, but not amphetamine, in the Mongolian gerbil. Psychopharmacology 69, 93–100.
- Collins, J.P., Storfer, A., 2003. Global amphibian declines: sorting the hypotheses. Divers. Distrib. 9, 89–98.
- Corbetta, M., Miezin, F.M., Dobmeyer, S., Shulman, G.L., Petersen, S.E., 1991. Selective and divided attention during visual discriminations of shape, color and speed: functional anatomy by positron emission topography. J. Neurosci. 11, 2383–2402.
- Cox, T.M., Ragen, T.J., Read, A.J., Vos, E., Baird, R.W., Balcomb, K., Barlow, J., Caldwell, J., Cranford, T., Crum, L., D'Amico, A., D'Spain, G., Fernandez, A., Finneran, J., Gentry, R., Gerth, W., Gulland, F., Hildebrand, J., Houser, D., Hullar, T., Jepson, P.D., Ketten, D., MacLeod, C.D., Miller, P., Moore, S., Mountain, D.C., Palka, D., Ponganis, P., Rommel, S., Rowles, T., Taylor, B., Tyack, P., Wartzok, D., Gisiner, R., Mead, J., Benner, L., 2006. Understanding the impact of anthropogenic sound on beaked whales. J. Cetacean Res. Manage. 7, 177–187.
- Curio, E., 1976. The Ethology of Predation. Springer Press, New York.
- Dawkins, M., 1971. Shifts of 'attention' in chicks during feeding. Anim. Behav. 19, 575–582.
- Delaney, D.K., Grubb, T.G., Beier, P., Pater, L.L., Reiser, M.H., 1999. Effects of helicopter noise on Mexican spotted owls. J. Wildl. Manage. 63, 60–76.
- Deruelle, C., Fagot, J., 1998. Visual search for global/local stimulus features in humans and baboons. Psych. Bull. Rev. 5, 476–481.
- Dingle, H., Carroll, S.P., Loye, J.E., 1997. Conservation, behavior and 99% of the world's biodiversity: is our ignorance really bliss? In: Clemmons, J.R., Buchholz, R. (Eds.), Behavioral Approaches to Conservation in the Wild. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom, pp. 72–92.
- Driver, J., Spence, C., 1998. Attention and the crossmodal construction of space. Trends Cogn. Sci. 2, 254–262.
- Dukas, R., Kamil, A.C., 2000. The cost of limited attention in blue jays. Behav. Ecol. 11, 502–506.
- Dukas, R., 2002. Behavioural and ecological consequences of limited attention. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B 357, 1539–1547.
- Dukas, R., 2004. Causes and consequences of limited attention. Brain Behav. Evol. 63, 197–210.
- Elwood, R.W., 1995. Motivational change during resource assessment in hermit crabs. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 193, 41–55.
- Elwood, R.W., Wood, K., Gallagher, M., Dick, J.T.A., 1998. Probing motivational state during agonistic encounters in animals. Nature 393, 66–68.
- Estes, J.A., Doak, D.F., Springer, A.M., Williams, T.M., 2009. Causes and consequences of marine mammal population decline in southwest Alaska: a food-web perspective. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B 364, 1647–1658.
- Fagot, J., Kruschke, J.K., Depy, D., Vauclair, J., 1998. Associative learning in baboons (*Papio papio*) and humans (*Homo sapiens*): species differences in learned attention to visual features. Anim. Cog. 1, 123–133.
- Fauchald, P., Tveraa, T., 2003. Using first-passage time in the analysis of area-restricted search and habitat selection. Ecology 84, 282–288.
- Fleishman, L.J., 1986. Motion detection in the presence and absence of background motion in an *Anolis* lizard. J. Comp. Physiol. A 159, 711–720.
- Fleishman, L.J., 1992. The influence of the sensory system and the environment on motion patterns in the visual displays of anolines lizards and other vertebrates. Am. Nat. 139, S36–S61.
- Foote, A.D., Osborne, R.W., Hoelzel, A.R., 2004. Whale-call response to masking boat noise. Nature 428, 910.
- Francis, C.D., Ortega, C.P., Cruz, A., 2009. Noise pollution changes avian communities and species interactions. Curr. Biol. 19, 1415–1419.
- Frantzis, A., 1998. Does acoustic testing strand whales? Nature 392, 29.

- Gaalen, M.M.V., Stenzel-Poore, M., Holsboer, F., Steckler, T., 2003. Reduced attention in mice overproducing corticotropin-releasing hormone. Behav. Brain Res. 142, 69–79.
- Gibbons, J.W., Scott, D.E., Ryan, T.J., Buhlmann, K.A., Tuberville, T.D., Metts, B.S., Greene, J.L., Mills, T., Leiden, Y., Poppy, S., Winne, C.T., 2000. The global decline of reptiles, déjà vu amphibians. BioScience 50, 653–666.
- Gerhardt, C.H., Franz, H., Simmons, A.M., 2002. Acoustic Communication in Insects and Anurans. The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Illinois. Granon, S., 1998. Evidence for the involvement of the rat prefrontal cortex
- in sustained attention. Q. J. Exp. Psychol.-B 51, 219–233. Greco, B., Carli, M., 2006. Reduced attention and increased impulsivity in
- mice lacking NPY Y2 receptors: relation to anxiolytic-like phenotype. Behav. Brain Res. 169, 325–334.
- Greenfield, M.D., Rand, S., 2001. Frogs have rules: selective attention algorithms regulate chorusing in *Physalaemus pustulosus* (Leptodactylidae). Ethology 106, 331–347.
- Hatch, L.T., Wright, A.J., 2007. A brief review of anthropogenic sound in the oceans. Int. J. Comp. Psychol. 20, 121–133.
- Hebets, E.A., 2004. Attention-altering signal interactions in the multimodal courtship display of the wolf spider *Schizocosa uetzi*. Behav. Ecol. 16, 75–82.
- Hills, T., Brockie, P.J., Maricq, A.V., 2004. Dopamine and glutamate control area-restricted search behavior in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. J. Neurosci. 24, 1217–1225.
- Horton, K.E., Caldwell, C.A., 2006. Visual co-orientation and expectations about attentional orientation in pileated gibbons (*Hylobates pileatus*). Behav. Process. 72, 65–73.
- Hunter, P., 2007. The human impact on biological diversity: how species adapt to urban challenges sheds light on evolution and provides clues about conservation. EMBO Rep. 8, 316–318.
- Ingle, D., 1975. Focal attention in the frog: behavioral and physiological correlates. Science 188, 1033–1035.
- Itakura, S., Tanaka, M., 1998. Use of experimenter-given cues during object-choice tasks by chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*), an orangutan (*Pongo pygmaeus*), and human infants (*Homo sapiens*). J. Comp. Psychol. 112, 119–126.
- Jabben, J., Potma, C.J.M., Swart, W.J.R., 2001. Continuous monitoring of noise emission from roadways. In: Inter-noise, International Congress and Exhibition on Noise Control Engineering, Den Haag, The Netherlands.
- Jackson, N.W., Elwood, R.W., 1990. Interrupting and assessment process to probe changes in the motivational state. Anim. Behav. 37, 529–534.
- Jentsch, J.D., Taylor, J.R., 2003. Sex-related differences in spatial divided attention and motor impulsivity in rats. Neuroscience 117, 76–83.
- Jeschke, J.M., Tollrian, R., 2007. Prey swarming: which predators become confused and why? Anim. Behav. 74, 387–393.
- Kareiva, P., Odell, G., 1987. Swarms of predators exhibit "preytaxis" if individual predators use area-restricted search. Am. Nat. 130, 233–270.
- Karp, D.S., Root, T.L., 2009. Sound the stressor: how Hoatzins (Opisthocomus hoazin) react to ecotourist conversation. Biodivers. Conserv. 18, 3733–3742.
- Kats, L.B., Dill, L.M., 1998. The scent of death: chemosensory assessment of predation risk by prey animals. Ecoscience 5, 361–394.
- Langley, C.M., 1996. Search images: selective attention to specific visual features of prey. J. Exp. Psychol. Anim. B 22, 152–163.
- Langley, C.M., Riley, D.A., Bond, A.B., Goel, N., 1996. Visual search for natural grain in pigeons (*Columba livia*): search images and selective attention. J. Exp. Psychol. Anim. B 22, 139–151.
- Lavelle, P., Decaens, T., Aubert, M., Barot, S., Blouin, M., Bureau, F., Margerie, P., Mora, P., Rossi, J.-P., 2006. Soil invertebrates and ecosystems services. Eur. J. Soil Biol. 42, S3–S15.
- Lein, M.R., 1981. Display behavior of ovenbirds (*Seiurus aurocapillus*) II Song variation and singing behavior. Wilson Bull. 93, 21–41. Lloyd, R., Alford, R.A., Schwarzkopf, L., 2009. Chemical discrimination
- Lloyd, R., Alford, R.A., Schwarzkopf, L., 2009. Chemical discrimination among predators by lizards: responses of three skink species to the odour of high- and low-threat varanid predators. Aust. Ecol. 34, 50–54.
- Luniak, M., 2004. Synurbanization adaptation of animal wildlife to urban development. In: Shaw, W.W., Harris, L.K., Vandruff, L. (Eds.), Proceedings of the 4th International Symposium on Urban Wildlife Conservation. Tucson, AZ, pp. 50–55.
- Maes, J.H.R., de Groot, G., 2003. Effects of noise on the performance of rats in an operant discrimination task. Behav. Process. 61, 57–68.
- McGaughy, J., Turchi, J., Sarter, M., 1994. Crossmodal divided attention in rats: effect of chlordiazepoxide and scopolamine. Psychopharmacology 115, 213–220.
- Mirza, N.R., Stolerman, I.P., 1998. Nicotine enhances sustained attention in the rat under specific task conditions. Psychopharmacology 138, 266–274.

- Mittermeier, R.A., Wallis, J., Rylands, A.B., Ganzhorn, J.U., Oates, J.F., Williamson, E.A., Palacios, E., Heymann, E.W., Kierulff, M.C.M., Yongcheng, L., Supriatna, J., Roos, C., Walker, S., Cortes-Ortiz, L., Schwitzer, C., 2009. Primates in peril: the world's 25 most endangered primates 2008–2010. Primate Conserv. 24, 1–57.
- Mysterud, A., Aaserud, R., Hansen, L.O., Akra, K., Olberg, S., Austrheim, G., 2010. Large herbivore grazing and invertebrates in an alpine ecosystem. Basic Appl. Ecol. 11, 320–328.
- Nakata, K., 2010. Attention focusing in a sit-and-wait forager: a spider control its prey-detection ability in different web sectors by adjusting threat tension. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B: Biol. 277, 29–33.
- Neil, S.J., Elwood, R.W., 1986. Factors influencing shell investigation in the hermit crab, Pagurus bernhardus. Ethology 73, 225–234.
- Nelson, S.H., Evans, A.D., Bradbury, R.B., 2005. The efficacy of an ultrasonic cat deterrent. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 96, 83–91.
- Pack, A.A., Herman, L.M., 2004. Bottlenosed dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*) comprehend the referent of both static and dynamic human gazing and pointing in an object-choice task. J. Comp. Psychol. 118, 160–171.
- Pack, A.A., Herman, L.M., 2006. Dolphin social cognition and joint attention: our current understanding. Aquat. Mamm. 32, 443–460.
- Paolini, M., Sereno, M.I., 1998. Direction selectivity in the middle lateral and lateral (ML and L) visual areas in the California ground squirrel. Cereb. Cortex 8, 362–371.
- Pimm, S., Raven, P., Peterson, A., Sekercioglu, C.H., Ehrlich, P.R., 2010. Human impacts on the rates of recent, present, and future bird extinctions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 103, 10941–10946.
- Piser, M., Fibiger, H.C., 1983. Evidence against a role of the rat's dorsal noradrenergic bundle in selective attention and place memory. Brain Res. 272, 319–329.
- Plaisted, K.C., Mackintosh, N.J., 1995. Visual search for cryptic stimuli in pigeons: implications for the search image and search rate hypothesis. Anim. Behav. 50, 1219–1232.
- Povinelli, D.J., Eddy, T.J., 1996. Chimpanzees: joint visual attention. Psychol. Sci. 7, 129–135.
- Prechtl, J.C., 1994. Visual motion induces synchronous oscillations in turtle visual cortex. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 91, 12467–12471.
- Rabin, L.A., Coss, R.G., Owings, D.H., 2006. The effects of wind turbines on antipredator behavior in California ground squirrels (*Spermophilus beecheyi*). Biol. Conserv. 131, 410–420.
- Reby, D., Hewison, M., Izquierdo, M., Pepin, D., 2008. Red deer (*Cervus elaphus*) hinds discriminate between the roar of their current harem-holder stag and those of neighbouring stags. Ethology 107, 951–959.
- Reijen, R., Foppen, R., Braak, C.T., Thissen, J., 1998. The effects of car traffic and breeding bird populations in woodland. III. Reduction of density in relation to the proximity of main roads. J. Appl. Ecol. 32, 187–202.
- Riipinen, M.P., Fleituch, T., Hladyz, S., Woodward, G., Giller, P., Dobson, M., 2010. Invertebrate community structure and ecosystem functioning in European conifer plantation streams. Freshwater Biol. 55, 346–359.
- Ruiz, A., Gomez, J.C., Roeder, J.J., Byrne, R.W., 2009. Gaze following and gaze priming in lemurs. Anim. Cogn. 12, 427–434.
- Sagi, D., Julesz, B., 1986. Enhanced detection of the aperture of focal attention during simple discrimination tasks. Nature 321, 693–695.
- Savage, A., Rice, J.M., Brangan, J.M., Martini, D.P., Pugh, J.A., Miller, C.D., 1994. Performance of African elephants (*Loxodonta africana*) and California sea lions (*Zalophus californianus*) on a two-choice object discrimination task. Zoo Biol. 13, 69–75.
- Schusterman, R.J., 1966. Serial discrimination-reversal learning with and without errors by the California sea lion. J. Exp. Anim. Behav. 9, 593–600.
- Schusterman, R.J., 1967. Attention shift and errorless reversal learning by California sea lion. Science 156, 833–835.
- Shettleworth, S.J., 2010. Cognition, Evolution and Behavior, 2nd ed. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Slabbekoorn, H., Peet, M., 2003. Birds sing at a higher pitch in urban noise. Nature 424, 267.
- Slabbekoorn, H., Ripmeester, E.A.P., 2008. Birdsong and anthropogenic noise: implications and applications for conservation. Mol. Ecol. 17, 72–83.
- Spinozzi, G., De Lillo, C., Truppa, V., 2003. Global and local processing of hierarchical visual stimuli in tufted capuchin monkeys (*Cebus apella*). J. Comp. Psychol. 117, 15–23.
- Surlykke, A., Kalko, E.K.V., 2008. Echolocating bats cry out loud to detect their prey. PLoS One 3 (4), e2034.
- Tinbergen, L., 1960. The natural control of insects in pine woods. I. Factors influencing the intensity of predation by songbirds. Arch. Neerl. Zool. 13, 265–343.
- Tomasello, M., Call, J., Hare, B., 1998. Five primate species follow the visual gaze of conspecifics. Anim. Behav. 55, 1063–1069.

- Tomonaga, M., 2001. Investigating visual perception and cognition in Chimpanzees (*Pan tryoglodytes*) through visual search and related tasks: from basic to complex processes. In: Matsuzawa, T. (Ed.), Primate Origin of Human Cognition and Behavior. Springer, Japan, Tokyo, pp. 55–86.
- Treisman, A.M., Gelade, G., 1980. A feature-integration theory of attention. Cogn. Psychol. 12, 97–136.
- Turvey, S.T., Pitman, R.L., Taylor, B.L., Barlow, J., Akamatsu, T., Barrett, L.A., Zhao, X., Reeves, R.R., Stewart, B.S., Wang, K., Wei, Z., Zhang, X., Pusser, L.T., Richlen, M., Brandon, J.R., Wang, D., 2007. First human-caused extinction of a cetacean species? Biol. Lett. 3, 537–540.
- VanRullen, R., Reddy, L., Koch, C., 2004. Visual search and dual tasks reveal two distinct attentional resources. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 16, 4–14.
- Vick, S.-J., Anderson, J.R., 2003. Use of human visual attention cues by olive baboons (*Papio anubis*) in a competitive task. J. Comp. Psychol. 117, 209–216.

- Visser, T.A.W., Biscof, W.F., Di Lollo, V., 2004. Rapid serial visual distraction: task-irrelevant items can produce an attentional blink. Percept. Psychophys. 66, 1418–1432.
- Warren, P.S., Katt, M., Ermann, M., Brazel, A., 2006. Urban bioacoustics: it's not just noise. Anim. Behav. 71, 491–502.
- Watts, D.P., 1998. A preliminary study of selective visual attention in female mountain gorillas (*Gorilla gorilla beringei*). Primates 39, 71–78.
 Wolfe, J.M., 2010. Visual search. Curr. Biol. 20, R346–R349.
- Wolff, J.O., Van Horn, T., 2003. Vigilance and foraging patterns of American elk during the rut in habitats with and without predators. Can. J. Zool. 81, 266–271.
- Woods, W.E., Yezerinac, S.M., 2006. Song sparrow (Melospiza melodia) song varies with urban noise. Auk 123, 650–659.
- Young, J.W., Finlayson, K., Spratt, C., Marston, H.M., Crawford, N., Kelly, J.S., Sharkey, J., 2004. Nicotine improves sustained attention in mice: evidence for involvement of the alpha 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. Neuropsychopharmacology 29, 891–900.